
HEALEY AREA FORUM
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

FOLLOWED BY ORDINARY MEETING

Thursday 18 October 2018 at 6.30pm
Syke Community Base, Syke Methodist Church,

Syke Road, Rochdale

AGENDA

1. Welcome, Introductions, Apologies and Code of Conduct

2. Appointment of Chair and Vice Chair

3. Greater Manchester Police including PACT meeting

4. Open Forum - An opportunity for local residents to comment on issues in 
the Ward
- Syke Road traffic issues

5. Ward/Members Funds

6. Updates on issues raised at previous meetings

7. Approval of the minutes of the meetings held on 7 June 2018, 16 August 
2018 and 13 September 2018

8. Matters arising from those minutes not listed as agenda items

9. Councillors' News

10. Good News from people in the area and Syke Community Base

11. Date and time of the next meetings

10 January 2019 at 6.30pm
14 March 2019 at 6.30pm

Public Document Pack



HEALEY AREA FORUM

MINUTES OF MEETING
Thursday, 7 June 2018

PRESENT:  Councillors Heakin and Wazir, M. Whittle, J. White, R. Lord, N. Dixon, 
H. Connely, J. Close, C. Aspinall, T. Ayrton, S. Nasen, S. Acton, J. Kennedy (Chair), 
G. Bowden-Witts, D. Barnett, M. Barnett, M. Fraser, A. Evans, B. KIlduff, E. Wild and 
N. Hassett.

OFFICERS: PCSO Stewart and Vohra, G. Finch (Township & Engagement Officer) 
and L. Wardle (Public Realm Inspector).

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE: Councillor O'Neill, V. Heather, S. Dixon and 
J. Murphy.

WELCOME, INTRODUCTIONS AND CODE OF CONDUCT
165
The Chair welcomed all to the meeting and reminded Forum members about the 
Code of Conduct and asked everyone to comply with the code throughout the 
meeting.

GREATER MANCHESTER POLICE INCLUDING PACT MEETING
166
PCSO Stewart and Vohra attended the meeting for this item.

The Forum was informed that the local neighbourhood policing team had been 
unsuccessful in organising traffic initiatives within the Ward since the last Area Forum 
in March. The reason for this is that the traffic unit has seen staffing resources 
significantly reduced in recent years which is now impacting upon capacity. However 
the local neighbourhood policing team are very much aware of the problems in the 
Ward regarding speeding and are looking to undertake training which would enable 
them to carry out traffic operations. Having said this traffic operations facilitated in 
this way would not be enforceable, however any drivers found to be speeding would 
be sent a warning letter.

Residents expressed their disappointment with this and reinforced the message that 
more needed to be done. A number of speeding hot spots were also identified – 
Fieldhouse Road, Dewhirst Road, Mizzy Road, Shawclought Road, Whitworth Road 
and Bentley Street. It was stated that Bentley Street would be subject to traffic 
calming measures in the near future.

Residents also raised concerns about off-road bike nuisance in the Ward. 

GMP commented that this type of nuisance is a problem across the borough and it is 
hoped that another specific operation aimed at off-road bikes will be organised in the 
near future. Residents were reminded that GMP has a no pursuit policy which does 
not help the situation. Residents again were encouraged to report incidents of this 
nature providing as much information as possible.

The following issues were raised by residents:

1. It was commented that drug dealing on Syke Road continues and has been 
going on for some time. Residents expressed their concerns and 
disappointment that this is reported regularly and nothing seems to happen or 
change.

Public Document Pack

Page 2

Agenda Item 7



2. A number of residents commented that police patrols are never seen and that 
more police visibility is required.

In response it was commented that PCSO’s in the Neighbourhood Policing 
Team are regularly policing the Ward. However they can be diverted 
elsewhere as priorities change. It was also commented that recruitment within 
GMP is ongoing and the Positive Action Team will be visiting Rochdale soon.

3. In response to a question concerning CCTV in the Ward it was stated that 
CCTV would only be deemed appropriate if a high volume of incidents had 
been reported.

4. A Homewatch member was concerned that Co-ordinators are no longer being 
informed about crime in the vicinity which can be subsequently cascaded. In 
addition the Homewatch ‘monthly update is only received quarterly.

The Officers present agreed to report these concerns.

Because of time constraints it was not possible to report crime figures for the 
Ward over the last three months. However these are as follows:

- Domestic burglary 26 previously 16

- Other burglary 5 previously 0

- Theft of vehicle 3 previously 4

- Theft from a vehicle 23 previously 16

- Anti-social behaviour incidents 15 previously 28

- Criminal damage 28 previously 15

It was agreed that Ward priorities over the next three months would be – speeding, 
burglary and motor vehicle theft.

Additional GMP information can be accessed from the link below.

http://democracy.rochdale.gov.uk/documents/s61805/GMP%20Homewatch%20Mont
hly%20Update.pdf

ROLE OF THE PUBLIC REALM INSPECTOR
167
Lee Wardle, Public Realm Inspector attended the meeting for this item.

The meeting was informed that the role of Public Realm Inspector was created in 
April 2017 and is an amalgamation of the roles of Environmental Enforcement Officer 
and Community Safety Officer.

Legislation that is pertinent to the role is:

- Environmental Protection Act 1990
- Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982
- Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976
- Prevention of Damage by Pests Act 1949
- Public Health Act 1936
- The Highways Act 1980
- Town & Country Planning Act 1990

Page 3

http://democracy.rochdale.gov.uk/documents/s61805/GMP%20Homewatch%20Monthly%20Update.pdf
http://democracy.rochdale.gov.uk/documents/s61805/GMP%20Homewatch%20Monthly%20Update.pdf


- Dogs (Fouling of Land) Act 1996
- Criminal Justice and Public Order Act 1994
- Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005
- Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014

Relevant day to day activities include dealing with:

- Accumulation of waste on private land
- Dog fouling
- Fly tipping
- Littering
- Grafitti
- Abandoned vehicles
- Illegal structures on the highway
- Skips
- Parking on verges
- Dangerous structures on highway
- A-boards
- Water discharging onto highway
- Illegal vehicle access
- Travellers
- Anti-social behaviour
- Crime prevention

A resident asked if it was ok to place black bins liners next to a litter bin, if the bin 
was full.

In response to this the Forum was informed this action in theory constitutes illegal 
tipping.

A resident reported that the garden to a property on Jefferson Way was full of 
furniture.

The Public Realm Inspector agreed to investigate this further.

OPEN FORUM - AN OPPORTUNITY FOR LOCAL RESIDENTS TO COMMENT ON 
ISSUES IN THE WARD
168
Residents raised the following issues:

1. The Carr Hill House bushes are bordering on obstructing the footpath. This is 
especially problematic near to the path up to the house.

Response: This will be reported.

2. When will the bollards be installed on New Street (near to the Talbot’s Head).

Response: The Township and Engagement Officer stated that Highways had 
recently been in touch to understand the siting of the bollards. Because of this 
it is hoped that installation will be soon.

3. What is the current position on the Whitworth Road Route Study that was 
commissioned from Ward Funds in 2017?

Response: The study has been completed. Options from the study have yet to 
be costed.

Page 4



4. Given that Wilko’s, in addition to other High Street shops have announced 
closures are Rochdale Borough Council wise to continue with the Riverside 
Development.

Response: Although the residents point of view was understood it was 
reiterated that development within the Town was crucial, doing nothing was 
not an option. It is hoped that the Riverside Development will encourage 
residents to shop in the Town and stop going elsewhere, will provide greater 
choice, create jobs and promote the day / night economy.

5. What will happen to the Wheatsheaf Centre and Exchange Square going 
forward?

Response: Unsure

6. Does the local authority have any input into the setting of business rates.

Response: Central Government is responsible for the setting of business 
rates, however the local authority can offer reductions to encourage / support 
businesses.

7. Car parking has been significantly reduced in the Town Centre, are there any 
plans to increase car parking spaces.

Response: There are a number of car parks within or near to the Town 
Centre. Longer term it is likely that the car parking spaces at the front of the 
Town Hall will be removed due to its redevelopment. There are no plans to 
introduce additional parking places at this stage.

8. A resident commented that he had approached Environmental Management 
on a number of occasions to ask if the service holes on the Common can be 
made safe. However he has received no replies.

The Public Realm Inspector agreed to investigate this further.

9. A resident raised concerns about cars and motor bikes accessing the 
Common and if it would be possible to introduce a number of measures to 
make this more difficult.

The Township and Engagement Officer agreed to meet with the resident.

WARD/MEMBERS FUNDS
169
It was reported that Ward / Members Funds for 2018/19 are not known at this stage. 
However they are likely to be agreed at Rochdale Township Committee on the 13th 
June.

Page 5



POTENTIAL PROJECTS 2018/19
170
The following requests had been received from residents and a Ward Councillor as 
potential projects for 2018/19: The information below was circulated at the meeting.

Project outline Comment

1 Restoration of the Pack Horse Trail This has been referred to Environmental 
Management to see if they would be 
interested in undertaking this as a 
project. It is understood an Officer from 
Environmental Management has met 
with the resident, however the outcome 
of this meeting is unknown.

2 Introduction of bollards / signpost / 
dropped kerb or painted lines on ‘John 
Bright’ car park to assist pedestrian 
access.

Asked Environmental Management for a 
price for bollards.

3 Litter around John Bright car park and 
Greenbank School to be cleared

Not necessarily a project to be funded 
from Ward / Members Fund. This has 
been reported on many occasions to 
Environmental Management.

4 Three trees recently planted on the 
Common (Greenbank Road) were 
subsequently vandalised. Suggestion 
received to replace these trees.

5 Trees planted in groups on the 
Common

The City of Trees project will be 
contacted to see if they can help with 
this.

6 All tree stumps on the Common to be 
removed – approximately 19.

Have been advised by Environmental 
Management that this is not part of their 
general maintenance programme, 
therefore would need to be financed. 
Informed this can be an expensive 
operation.

7 Repair to flags and general tidying up 
of the heritage lottery garden

8 Marsh plants on the Common need 
treating to avoid extensive spreading

Asked Environmental Management if this 
is part of their general maintenance 
programme.

9. Wild flower areas to be planted

10 Raise edging stones on the roads to 
stop cars parking on the Common

Extremely expensive operation 

11 Improve the footpath that runs across 
the Common from Cronkeyshaw Road to 
Heights Lane

Page 6



In addition to the above comments it was agreed that in relation to:

- Project number 4 no more action should be taken

As a result of the Forum requesting that an additional meeting be organised to deal 
specifically with Cronkeyshaw Common and Syke Pond it was agreed to raise the 
above related issues at that meeting.

UPDATES ON ISSUES RAISED AT PREVIOUS MEETING
171
The following update was provided:

Council Policy on A-Boards – All business owners can have a maximum of one A-
Board advertising their business and that all such boards are up against the building 
from which their business operates. Anything which is considered a danger can be 
removed immediately and any particular concerns are dealt with through advice / 
notice / legal proceedings.

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCES AND APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES OF THE 
MEETING HELD ON 8 MARCH 2018
172
Apologies had been received from Councillor O’Neill, V. Heather, S.Dixon and J. 
Murphy.

The minutes of the Area Forum meeting held on Thursday 8th March 2018 were 
approved as a correct record subject to the following amendment;

Minute 163 should read – Syke Methodist Church will be 150 years old this year.

MATTERS ARISING FROM THOSE MINUTES NOT LISTED AS AGENDA ITEMS
173
The following matters were raised:

Minute 159 (point 3) – Ashmount Drive / Mizzy Road resurfacing – now complete.

Minute 161 (point 2) Do not feed geese signs – feeding is still being carried out.
 
In addition to the above it was reported that the feeding of geese is taking place on 
Heights Lane. The Public Realm Inspector agreed to investigate this further as a 
potential littering offence was taking place.

COUNCILLORS' NEWS
174
Ward Councillors informed the Forum of the following issues:

1. The Council had received a £680k grant to produce a development plan for 
the Town Hall.

2. The Lincoln Street link road is now open which will hopefully ease traffic 
congestion and traffic flow in the area.

3. Regeneration work will be undertaken on Drake Street.

4. It is proposed to undertake a local campaign to stop lorry’s over 7.5t using 
Shawclough Road. This was supported by the Forum.

Page 7



GOOD NEWS FROM PEOPLE IN THE AREA AND SYKE COMMUNITY BASE
175
The following issues were raised:

1. The work on Syke Base is progressing.

2. Residents are keen to obtain conservation status for the Syke Common area.

3. The picnic benches are being used.

4. Residents are keen to protect the green belt.

DATE AND TIME OF THE NEXT MEETINGS
176
The next Area Forum meeting will be held on Thursday 18th October 2018, 
commencing 6.30pm at Syke Community Base. This meeting will also include the 
Annual General Meeting and election of Chair and Vice Chair.

In addition to this it is planned to organise an additional Forum meeting to deal 
specifically with issues relating to Cronkeyshaw Common and Syke Pond. Date to be 
arranged.

Page 8



Page 8

Minute Item 166

Page 9



Page 9Page 10



Page 10Page 11



Page 11Page 12



Page 12Page 13



Page 13Page 14



HEALEY AREA FORUM

MINUTES OF MEETING
Thursday, 16 August 2018

PRESENT:  Councillors Heakin, O'Neill and Wazir, J. Kennedy (Chair), G. Bowdon-
Witts, M. Barnett, D. Barnett, T.Ayrton, J. Murphy, A. Evans, R. Lord, E. Walton, J. 
Walton, N. Hassett, D. Hassett, C. Grimwood, M. Grimwood, J. Simpson, C. Anders, 
J. Taylor, N. Dixon and S. Dixon.

OFFICERS: N. Barton (Principal Projects Officer) and G. Finch (Township & 
Engagement Officer)

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE: S. Acton, I. Trickett and V. Heather

WELCOME, INTRODUCTIONS AND CODE OF CONDUCT
177
The Chair welcomed all to the meeting and introductions were made.

Forum members were asked to respect the Code of Conduct for the duration of the 
meeting.

THIS MEETING HAS BEEN ARRANGED TO DISCUSS ISSUES RELATING TO 
THE COMMON AND SYKE POND
178
The Chair explained that this meeting had been called to specifically discuss issues 
in relation to Syke Pond and the Common.

Nick Barton was in attendance to discuss Syke Pond, unfortunately Ian Trickett was 
unable to attend to discuss the Common. However Ian had provided responses to 
questions submitted prior to the meeting.

Syke Pond

In general the Forum expressed their dissatisfaction with the amount of time it has 
taken to make any progress with this project.

The following questions had been submitted prior to the meeting. 

‘Update on timing of the work is needed. On the understanding that funds have been 
secured we would like to know’:

- If a contractor has been found
- When the work will begin
- With whom the responsibility for commissioning the work now lies.

The Officer acknowledged that progress on the Syke Pond project had been slow 
and that he understood that this would have created a great deal of frustration for 
residents.

However he reassured forum members that funds had been secured for the project 
and that discussions had taken place to move this initiative forward.

Page 15



A number of residents expressed concern about the amount of finance being 
available for the project and drainage problems associated with the Common and 
Pond. 

The Officer stated that in order to satisfy residents that progress would be made he 
would produce, for the next forum (18 October 2018) a project plan for the initiative.

The Common

The following responses had been provided to questions that had been submitted 
prior to the meeting;

QUESTIONS / COMMENTS RESPONSE

Syke Pond

Update on timing of the work is needed. 
On the understanding that funds have 
been secured we would like to know:

 If a contractor has been found
 When the work will begin
 With whom the responsibility for 

commissioning the work now lies

Nick Barton attending meeting

Heritage Gardens

Repairs are needed to the area 
including damaged flagstones and 
general maintenance

Heritage garden maintenance lies with the 
Council. I will ask Tracy Hibbert to look at 
the site with David Illingworth. Tracy 
manages In Bloom landscaping projects 
and David Illingworth manages day to day 
maintenance.  Between them they should 
be able to come up with a plan of action.

Paths on the Common

 The paths on the Common have 
deteriorated following both the 
theft of some flagstones and the 
burial over time of others. The 
Common is often wet and boggy 
and the reinstatement of good 
quality paths would make it more 
accessible for a wider section of 
the community.

Paths on the common are not Designated 
Rights of Way but permissive paths 
through the site, so like a tarmac path in a 
park.  As such it is our responsibility in 
EM to ensure they are safe within 
reasonable bounds.  Problem is that 
stone flags laid with big gaps in them will 
never be a long term good footpath 
solution.  If stone paths are to be 
maintained to a high standard they would 
need to be lifted, path area dug out and 
edged, weed suppressant membrane and 
crushed stone base before re-laying the 
stone paving.  The report highlights the 
long term problem = risk of theft. We 
could spend a lot of money making it look 
great and then have it all nicked a week 
later. In this isolated spot that is a very 
high risk.  EM would strongly suggest 

Page 16



 The Limersgate pack horse trail 
once ran from the Chapel to the 
pond, then to Binns Nook Road 
and Falinge Park. This should be 
reinstated with an acceptable 
surface that would allow access 
for wheelchairs and pushchairs 
and which would not allow 
pooling of water.

 Who has the responsibility for 
and knowledge of the definitive 
map. This seems to have been 
inaccessible to the public for 

replacing with tarmac paths with side 
drains.  Either way, this would be a major 
undertaking beyond our maintenance 
budgets, so either s106 or AMG but my 
understanding was that no decision had 
been taken by Members on the type of 
surface.  If they make a decision we can 
get quotes here in EM.

Limersgate pack horse trail would be nice 
to reinstate but there is no legal 
requirement on Council for us to do so, 
again it is suitable surface that needs to 
be agreed and then this would be 
Members decision to see if they would 
fund either from Township / Area Forum 
budgets or s106.  If it is done in stone and 
then stolen it would go back to Township 
to fund replacement stones because EM 
do not have a budget to be constantly 
replacing stolen flags.  For that reason 
EM would only accept maintenance if it 
was a tarmac path. 

In response to Ian Trickett’s email and the 
designation of footpaths I can confirm that 
the record of definitive rights of way are 
protected under Highways Act 1980 and 
other legislation against closure, 
obstruction, alterations etc. however a 
route not identified on the definitive map 
and statement but is actually visible on 
the ground and used by the general public 
is a permissive path or a desire route and 
does not receive the same protection as 
the definitive recorded routes.

Any new paths implemented on the 
ground that have not proceeded through a 
legal process would only be permissive, 
should you wish a route to follow the legal 
process please contact me and I can 
explain the procedure, it can be however, 
a lengthy piece of work that can be time 
consuming for little gain for any applicant 
but if successful it will have the protection 
under current highway legislation

Contact Officers - Ian Trickett / Julie 
Simpson

Page 17



some time now. The addition of 
Limersgate onto the definitive 
map could support the case for 
the upkeep of the path.

Upgrading the Common

The perimeter of Cronkeyshaw Common 
is 4.5 kilometres or 3 miles.

 There are 19 tree stumps 
remaining from felled trees. One 
option is to remove them.

 There are clumps of trees and 
vegetation which may need 
attention.

 Rushes are becoming more 
prevalent and need treatment

 There is a suggestion for 
planting specimen trees

 Suggestion of professional 
landscaping

 Styles and location of benches 
should be standardised

 Creation of wild flower areas, eg, 
near road with no name

Tree stumps are not removed as 
standard.  If the Area Forum or Township 
wish to be pay for them to be stump 
ground just drop an e-mail to Andrew 
Quinn and he can get you a quote

Clumps of trees and vegetation that need 
attention – again will ask Dave Illingworth 
and Tracy Hibbert to look into that – 
sounds perfect for one of our winter 
maintenance interventions, they should 
be able to sort that out.

Rushes and tree planting go together.  If 
we plant trees that will cope with wet 
conditions like alder and willow they will 
help soak up excess ground water.  I will 
ask Tracy and Dave to look at how many 
trees they think required and again if 
Township or Area Forum have some 
funding we can order and plant extra 
trees.

Agree style benches should be 
standardised but that comes with a cost.  
What we can do is when any are replaced 
we go with standard design, or if 
Township / Area Forum / s106 can fund, 
again we can give you a price for a 
replacement bench program.

Creation of wildflower area is a bit of an 
issue for us regards maintenance.  We 
like the idea but are struggling to find 
farmer who will cut and bale it so 
struggling to maintain our existing.  There 
is also a capital cost to doing this – have 
to spray out grass, rotavate, seed and roll.

Page 18



 Mowing of the Common (April-
October) should be monitored so 
that wild flowers are retained. 
This would potentially save 
maintenance costs.

 Consider Harriet Morley’s report 
on the Common.

Mowing – interesting idea, we can easily 
stop mowing certain areas to see if any 
wildflowers emerge naturally – often 
damp grassland can be a sea of pink / 
blue in spring if there is cuckoo flower or 
speedwell present but we would only 
know that if we left areas long – you might 
just have long grass.  Again I can ask 
Dave and Tracy to let you know if any 
areas look suitable for trialling.

Syke Woods

Who is responsible for the upkeep of the 
paths in the area leased by Walton 
Angling Club. This is a beautiful area but 
there are stretches of path that are 
inaccessible to many members of the 
public.

I have spoken to the fishing club – their 
lease does not include maintenance of 
the paths only bankings/fishing pegs etc.  
There are no rights of way showing on 
GM maps, the land to the west of the 
reservoir is privately owned.

Conservation Area

Updates and developments No change. Resources and capacity 
dictate that this is not a priority at present.

Parking and accessibility

 Suggestion for a parking area on 
the Common between Cross 
Lees and the Hunters Rest which 
has now been converted to three 
houses.

 21 parking spaces were 
withdrawn when the road with no 
name was redeveloped.

 Footpaths on Syke Road need 
upgrading

No updates available

Because of the non-attendance of the Officer from Environmental Management it 
was agreed that another meeting be organised to discuss issues specifically in 
relation to the Common.

A discussion took place about the possibility of utilising Common land to create 
parking spaces for residents. The area between Cross Lees and the Hunters Rest 
had been identified. 

Page 19



The Township and Engagement agreed to investigate this further.

DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETINGS
179
A date and time for a meeting to specifically discuss issues in relation to the 
Common will be organised by the Township and Engagement Officer as soon as 
possible.

Forum dates are as follows:

Thursday 18 October 2018 at 6.30pm (AGM) – Syke Base
Thursday 10 January 2019 at 6.30pm – Syke Base
Thursday 14 March 2019 at 6.30pm – Syke Base

Page 20



HEALEY AREA FORUM

MINUTES OF MEETING
Thursday, 13 September 2018

PRESENT: Councillors O'Neill and Wazir, S. Acton, G. Bowden-Witts, J. Kennedy 
(Chair), M. Barnett, D. Barnett, B. Kilduff, Christine, J. College, J. Sutton, A. Tully, J. 
Murphy, B. Brown, C. Grimwood, M. Grimwood, S. Shaw, A. Evans, I. Wilson, N. 
Dixon, M. Lloyd, S. Lloyd, M. Davenport, K. Smith, T. Ayrton, R. Lord and Rev. H. 
Johnson.

OFFICERS: I. Trickett (Environmental Management) and G. Finch (Township and 
Engagement Officer)

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE: Councillor Heakin

WELCOME, INTRODUCTIONS, APOLOGIES AND CODE OF CONDUCT
180
The Chair welcomed all to the meeting and explained that the meeting had been 
arranged to discuss issues specifically related to the Common.

Apologies had been received from Councillor Heakin.

ISSUES RELATING TO THE COMMON
181
Ian Trickett, Environmental Management attended the meeting for this item.

It was explained that a number of questions in connection with the Common had 
been received prior to the meeting. In some cases a written response had  also been 
received. This question and answer sheet was circulated at the meeting. 

Question 1                                                      Response received prior to meeting

Heritage Gardens

Repairs are needed to the area 
including damaged flagstones and 
general maintenance

Heritage garden maintenance lies with 
the Council. I will ask Tracy Hibbert to 
look at the site with David Illingworth. 
Tracy manages In Bloom landscaping 
projects and David Illingworth 
manages day to day maintenance.  
Between them they should be able to 
come up with a plan of action.

A general discussion took place concerning the neglect of this area and the work that 
was required to improve the area.

Outcomes:
 

1. An action plan was now in place to improve the area.
2. It was asked if consideration could be given to including this area in future ‘In 

Bloom’ competitions.

Page 21



Question 2                                                       Response received prior to meeting

Paths on the Common

 The paths on the Common have 
deteriorated following both the 
theft of some flagstones and the 
burial over time of others. The 
Common is often wet and boggy 
and the reinstatement of good 
quality paths would make it 
more accessible for a wider 
section of the community.

 The Limersgate pack horse trail 
once ran from the Chapel to the 
pond, then to Binns Nook Road 
and Falinge Park. This should 
be reinstated with an acceptable 
surface that would allow access 
for wheelchairs and pushchairs 
and which would not allow 
pooling of water.

Paths on the common are not 
Designated Rights of Way but 
permissive paths through the site, so 
like a tarmac path in a park.  As such 
it is our responsibility in EM to 
ensure they are safe within 
reasonable bounds.  Problem is that 
stone flags laid with big gaps in them 
will never be a long term good 
footpath solution.  If stone paths are 
to be maintained to a high standard 
they would need to be lifted, path 
area dug out and edged, weed 
suppressant membrane and crushed 
stone base before re-laying the stone 
paving.  The report highlights the 
long term problem = risk of theft. We 
could spend a lot of money making it 
look great and then have it all nicked 
a week later. In this isolated spot that 
is a very high risk.  EM would 
strongly suggest replacing with 
tarmac paths with side drains.  Either 
way, this would be a major 
undertaking beyond our maintenance 
budgets, so either s106 or AMG but 
my understanding was that no 
decision had been taken by Members 
on the type of surface.  If they make a 
decision we can get quotes here in 
EM.

Limersgate pack horse trail would be 
nice to reinstate but there is no legal 
requirement on Council for us to do 
so, again it is suitable surface that 
needs to be agreed and then this 
would be Members decision to see if 
they would fund either from 
Township / Area Forum budgets or 
s106.  If it is done in stone and then 
stolen it would go back to Township 
to fund replacement stones because 
EM do not have a budget to be 
constantly replacing stolen flags.  For 
that reason EM would only accept 
maintenance if it was a tarmac path. 

In response to Ian Trickett’s email 
and the designation of footpaths I can 

Page 22



 Who has the responsibility for 
and knowledge of the definitive 
map. This seems to have been 
inaccessible to the public for 
some time now. The addition of 
Limersgate onto the definitive 
map could support the case for 
the upkeep of the path.

confirm that the record of definitive 
rights of way are protected under 
Highways Act 1980 and other 
legislation against closure, 
obstruction, alterations etc. however 
a route not identified on the definitive 
map and statement but is actually 
visible on the ground and used by the 
general public is a permissive path or 
a desire route and does not receive 
the same protection as the definitive 
recorded routes.

Any new paths implemented on the 
ground that have not proceeded 
through a legal process would only 
be permissive, should you wish a 
route to follow the legal process 
please contact me and I can explain 
the procedure, it can be however, a 
lengthy piece of work that can be 
time consuming for little gain for any 
applicant but if successful it will have 
the protection under current highway 
legislation

Contact Officers - Ian Trickett / Julie 
Simpson

A general discussion took place concerning the following issues:

 Current condition of the footpaths on the Common
 If the footpaths are designated Rights of Way
 If Limersgate Pack Horse Trail could be reinstated
 Options concerning the materials that could be used if remedial work was 

undertaken
 Funding options

Question 3                                                  Responses received prior to meeting

Upgrading the Common

The perimeter of Cronkeyshaw 
Common is 4.5 kilometres or 3 
miles.

Page 23



 There are 19 tree stumps 
remaining from felled 
trees. One option is to 
remove them.

 There are clumps of trees 
and vegetation which may 
need attention.

 Rushes are becoming 
more prevalent and need 
treatment

 There is a suggestion for 
planting specimen trees

 Suggestion of professional 
landscaping

 Styles and location of 
benches should be 
standardised

 Creation of wild flower 
areas, eg, near road with 
no name

 Mowing of the Common 
(April-October) should be 
monitored so that wild 
flowers are retained. This 
would potentially save 
maintenance costs.

 Consider Harriet Morley’s 
report on the Common.

Tree stumps are not removed as standard.  
If the Area Forum or Township wish to be 
pay for them to be stump ground just drop 
an e-mail to Andrew Quinn and he can get 
you a quote

Clumps of trees and vegetation that need 
attention – again will ask Dave Illingworth 
and Tracy Hibbert to look into that – 
sounds perfect for one of our winter 
maintenance interventions, they should be 
able to sort that out.

Rushes and tree planting go together.  If 
we plant trees that will cope with wet 
conditions like alder and willow they will 
help soak up excess ground water.  I will 
ask Tracy and Dave to look at how many 
trees they think required and again if 
Township or Area Forum have some 
funding we can order and plant extra trees.

Agree style benches should be 
standardised but that comes with a cost.  
What we can do is when any are replaced 
we go with standard design, or if Township 
/ Area Forum / s106 can fund, again we can 
give you a price for a replacement bench 
program.

Creation of wildflower area is a bit of an 
issue for us regards maintenance.  We like 
the idea but are struggling to find farmer 
who will cut and bale it so struggling to 
maintain our existing.  There is also a 
capital cost to doing this – have to spray 
out grass, rotavate, seed and roll.

Mowing – interesting idea, we can easily 
stop mowing certain areas to see if any 
wildflowers emerge naturally – often damp 
grassland can be a sea of pink / blue in 
spring if there is cuckoo flower or 
speedwell present but we would only know 
that if we left areas long – you might just 
have long grass.  Again I can ask Dave and 
Tracy to let you know if any areas look 
suitable for trialling.

Page 24



A general discussion took place which supported the responses received prior to the 
meeting.

Outcomes in relation to Questions 2 and 3

1. An action plan be produced which includes a summary of the current 
condition of the Common supported with a strategy for improving the 
Common going forward. This will include reference to:

- Health, Safety and Security
- Maintenance of Equipment, Building and Landscape
- Litter, Cleanliness and Vandalism
- Environmental Sustainability
- Conservation of Heritage and Nature
- Community Involvement

2. The introduction of a quarterly walk around the Common. Dates for this to be 
distributed via the Area Forum meeting.

3. The setting up of a Cronkeyshaw Common Working Group. Residents who 
expressed an interest in joining this group are – S. Acton, D. Barnett, A. 
Evans, T. Ayrton, R. Lord, N. Dixon and J. Kennedy.

Question 4                                                   Response received prior to meeting

Syke Woods

Who is responsible for the upkeep of 
the paths in the area leased by 
Walton Angling Club. This is a 
beautiful area but there are stretches 
of path that are inaccessible to many 
members of the public.

The fishing club have advised that their 
lease does not include maintenance of 
the paths only bankings/fishing pegs 
etc.  There are no rights of way 
showing on GM maps, the land to the 
west of the reservoir is privately 
owned.

Outcome

1. Agreed that a site visit would be undertaken.

Question 5                                                      Response received prior to meeting

Conservation Area updates and 
developments

No change. Resources and capacity 
dictate that this is not a priority at 
present.

It was explained that this issue is being dealt with by the Conservation Officer.

Page 25



Question 6                                                      Response received prior to meeting

Parking and accessibility

 Suggestion for a parking area 
on the Common between 
Cross Lees and the Hunters 
Rest which has now been 
converted to three houses.

 21 parking spaces were 
withdrawn when the road with 
no name was redeveloped.

Highways have stated that there is no 
additional parking provision available 
on the highway therefore the only 
possible way forward is to identify an 
alternative site. Because the Common 
has been suggested by residents I 
asked relevant services for their initial 
thoughts on this suggestion. 
Responses received are below.

- Environmental Management 
would not support using part of 
the Common for a Car Park.

- Where does provision start / 
stop (2places, 5places, 10 
places)

- Sets precedent for other 
applications

- Section 38 of Commons Act 
2006 requires that the Secretary 
of State approves changes of 
use to Common Land

- Potential cost

- May be subject to planning 
application – possible 
objections

- Traveller injunction based on 
mapping exercise of the 
Common as it is now. Any 
changes could bring existing 
injunction into disrepute and 
would at the very least require 
new legal mapping exercise.

- To provide hard standing for 
cars on the Common increases 
the risk for traveller 
encroachment.

- Safeguards in place for future 
use of Common

Page 26



 Footpaths on Syke Road need 
upgrading

- Rochdale Township Committee 
would have to approve project 
of this nature.

Asked for inclusion on footway 
maintenance programme.

The Forum was informed that it was very unlikely, for the reasons stated above, that 
a section of the Common between Cross Lees and the Hunters Rest would be 
converted into a parking area. 

Residents were unhappy that a number of wooden bollards had recently been moved 
closer to the highway. It was stated that this has caused more difficulty for residents 
when trying to manoeuvre their vehicles. It was explained that the bollards had been 
moved at the request of the Forum to deter vehicles encroaching onto the Common.

Although a traffic survey had been undertaken on Dewhirst Road / Syke Road 
recently some residents were of the opinion that speeding on Syke Road was a 
problem and asked if this issue could be revisited.

Following discussion it was stated that a petition, concentrating on traffic concerns, 
was possibly the best way forward. It was intimated that a petition would be 
organised and forwarded to the Council as soon as possible.

DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING
182
Thursday 18 October 2018, 6.30pm, Syke Community Base, Syke Road. This 
meeting will include the AGM

Page 27


	Agenda
	7 Approval of the minutes of the meetings held on 7 June 2018, 16 August 2018 and 13 September 2018
	Minutes
	166 Greater Manchester Police including PACT meeting
	Minutes - Healey Area Forum on 16 Aug 2018
	Minutes - Healey Area Forum on 13 Sept 2018


